SID J. WHITE

APR 3 1998

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUBDISAE COURT

By

Chief Reputy Clerk

**CASE NO. 90, 976** 

**CLARENCE JONES,** 

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

#### INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

STEVEN L. SELIGER GARCIA and SELIGER 16 North Adams Street Post Office Box 324 Quincy, Florida 32353-0324 (850) 875-4668

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT** 

##

#### **PRELIMINARY STATEMENT**

This proceeding involves the appeal of the circuit court's denial of Mr. Jones' motion for post-conviction relief. The motion was brought pursuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850. The circuit court summarily denied some of Jones' claims without an evidentiary hearing, and denied the remaining claims following an evidentiary hearing.

The following symbols will be used to designate references to the record in this instant cause:

"R" -- record on 3.850 appeal to this Court

"DR" -- record on direct appeal to this Court;

"Ex." -- exhibits submitted at the evidentiary hearing;

#### **REQUEST FOR ORAL ARGUMENT**

Mr. Jones has been sentenced to death. The resolution of the issues involved in this action will therefore determine whether he lives or dies. This Court has not hesitated to allow oral argument in other capital cases in a similar procedural posture. A full opportunity to air the issues through oral argument would be more than appropriate in this case, given the seriousness of the claims involved and the gravity of the penalty. Mr. Jones through counsel urges that the Court permit oral argument.

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Jones was initially charged by indictment on July 28, 1988 for first-degree murder; attempted first-degree murder; robbery with a firearm; burglary of a dwelling while armed; and kidnapping while armed. He pled not guilty. A jury convicted him as charged. The case then went to penalty phase on the murder conviction. The conviction involved the shooting death of a Tallahassee Police Department officer, Ernie Ponce de Leon.

The penalty phase ended with a jury recommendation of 11-1 for death and the trial judge imposing death. On direct appeal, this Court affirmed Mr. Jones' convictions and his sentence of death. Jones v. State, 580 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 1991) The United States Supreme Court declined to review this decision. Jones v. Florida, 112 S. Ct. 221 (1991) (Case No. 5)

Mr. Jones then filed a motion for post-conviction relief, challenging his conviction for first degree murder and resulting sentence of death. Concurrent with this motion pursuant to Rule 3.850, Mr. Jones filed a number of public records requests from a variety of agencies. An evidentiary hearing was held on both the public records requests and on the motion for post-conviction relief. The trial court denied relief. (R2-223-233) Included in this finding was a determination that the

public records requested by Mr. Jones had been disclosed. (R2-224) Mr. Jones filed a motion for rehearing of the Order Denying Post Conviction Relief. (R2-234-237) The trial court denied this motion for rehearing. (R2-239)

From this final order, Mr. Jones filed a timely notice of appeal. (R2-240) This brief is written in accordance with this Court's order of December 5, 1997.

#### **STATEMENT OF THE FACTS**

Clarence Jones was arrested and ultimately charged for the murder of a Tallahassee Police officer, Ernie Ponce de Leon. (R4-21) Cliff Davis was appointed to represent Mr. Jones in this case. (R4-19) Mr. Davis has been admitted to the Florida Bar since 1971 and specialized in criminal defense work. (R4-18-19) Prior to his appointment in Mr. Jones case, Davis testified that he had tried between 12-15 capital murder cases and had experience in the investigation, preparation and presentation of evidence in the penalty phase of a capital murder trial. (R4-19-20)

Mr. Davis recalled that he was selected to represent one "of the major players" in this murder case because it was clear that the State was going to seek the death penalty. (R4-22) In fact, Mr. Davis' client, Clarence Jones, was alleged to have been the person who shot and killed the police officer. (R4-22) In addition, Mr. Davis knew right from the beginning of his representation that Mr. Jones was an eligible candidate to be sentenced to death. (R4-22) Therefore, Mr. Davis knew he had to be prepared to present evidence in mitigation. (R4-23)

To prepare for the penalty phase of the case, Mr. Davis testified that he spoke to three people in Baltimore some time before trial. He recalled that two of them were women and one was a man who was related to Mr. Jones. Davis says he got the information about how to contact these people from his client. (R4-24) After review

of his time records through the guilt phase, Mr. Davis could find no specific reference to any of these contacts. (R4-24) In addition, he had no record of any long distance calls that he submitted for reimbursement. (R4-24)

Mr. Davis conceded that although he learned early on that all of Mr. Jones' family lived in Maryland, he never traveled there. Although he had authorization for an investigator, that person worked exclusively on guilt-phase issues. (R4-26) Mr. Davis believed that his total contact with the three individuals was two or three telephone calls. (R4-27) From these calls, Mr. Davis discovered that Jones had been in prison a long time and that Jones had "lost his immediate family early on." (R4-27) Mr. Davis also received "the records" of Mr. Jones incarceration. (R4-27) These "records" were provided to Mr. Davis as part of the discovery request he made to the State. (R4-28) Mr. Davis characterized these records as "a very complete file". (R4-28) He did not attempt to get any other records. (R4-38)

Based on this information, Mr. Davis believed that Mr. Jones had "spent most of his life in some kind of institution and his life was well documented and the family members I was able to find did not have enough time or interest, which was demonstrated by their lack of contact with him in prison, to be of any assistance." (R4-29) Mr. Davis did not travel to Baltimore because "it would have been a waste of my time and the resources available." (R4-29) Davis never requested the financial or

personnel resources to travel to Baltimore. Davis recalled that the people he spoke to could not afford to travel to Florida and when he offered financial assistance, was told that the person was "too ill". (R4-30) Mr. Davis ultimately had a "feeling" that Mr. Jones family "did not have enough interest . . . to be terribly concerned about Mr. Jones."

According to Mr. Davis, compelling any family member to testify was unnecessary "[b]ecause of Mr. Jones substantial history of incarceration, there were substantial records relating to his background and substantial information that Dr. Annis was able to obtain without subpoening somebody that didn't really want to come to get it." (R4-65)

However, Clarence's sister, Audrey Sullivan, said she was never contacted by anyone representing Clarence. She testified she "would have done for him I could. Of course." (R4-129)

The other work Mr. Davis did to prepare for the sentencing phase of the trial was to hire a mental health expert. (R4-30) Mr. Davis received court authorization to do this on the same day the jury announced its verdict in the guilt-phase portion of the trial. (R4-31)\* Although the request for the use of a mental health expert was couched

<sup>\*</sup>This was September 22, 1989.

in terms of having that person do a competency evaluation, Mr. Davis never intended the expert to be so used. Mr. Davis was clear that he had no doubt about Mr. Jones competency to stand trial or sanity at the time of the offense. (R4-31-32)

What Mr. Davis really wanted was someone "to assist me in presenting nonstatutory and/or statutory mitigators at sentencing." (R4-32) However, Davis never talked to the mental health expert, Dr. Larry Annis, until he was hired. (R4-32) When the verdict in the guilt-phase was announced, it was a Friday. Mr. Davis asked for a continuance through the weekend because he was not prepared to go ahead. (R4-33) Mr. Davis denied that he began to prepare for the penalty phase only after the competition of the guilt phase.

A. No, sir. I began to prepare the part of the penalty phase that dealt with his family history — because I was unable to get it directly from any family members — his prison history, his mental health history for which I had records from other authorities that Dr. Annis was able to review and present to the fact finder.

(R4-33)

Davis' initial contact with Dr. Annis recognized that "we're here on fairly short notice. I would like to have more time. The Court's given us until Monday morning to do what we're going to do." Davis told Annis "This is what I have to work with. Do the best you can. Help. And then I gave him the benefit of any information I had

that was not in the record." (R4-66)

Mr. Davis agreed that to adequately prepare for the penalty phase of a capital case, a lawyer needed to do complete life history of the client that would include information of family generations. In addition, a lawyer should get pertinent records, such as school and medical. The lawyer should also talk to friends, school teachers, neighbors, medical personnel. (R4-40) Mr. Davis did not do any of this. (R4-39-40)

To prepare his mental health expert, Mr. Davis provided Dr. Annis with the records he had received about Mr. Jones from the Maryland Department of Corrections. (R4-43) Mr. Davis talked with Dr. Annis to tell him "what I knew." (R4-43) Mr. Davis did not recall whether he asked Dr. Annis to speak to family members but he would have told Dr. Annis that he "had no luck with them." (R4-44)

Mr. Davis' recollection was that he never asked at trial Dr. Annis his opinion about the presence of any statutory mental health mitigators. (R4-45) He remembered asking Dr. Annis to address the possibility of mental retardation. (R4-46) Mr. Davis did not recall addressing the issue of substance abuse, either historically or at the time of the offense. (R4-47) Finally, Mr. Davis never inquired as to the possibility of Mr. Jones HIV positive status as possible mitigation. (R4-47)

Davis explained that he tried "to minimize Mr. Jones either being under the influence of using drugs in the guilt phase . . . There was no showing that anybody

was terribly under the influence at the time of the day [early morning]." (R4-66)

He also made "a conscious decision" to minimize Mr. Jones HIV positive status. Davis did not believe he "needed anybody that knew anything about HIV. If it had an impact on his mental functioning or on the mitigation aspect, the Dr. Annis was qualified to do that." (R4-67)

Mr. Davis testified that he made a strategic decision not to ask Dr. Annis about the statutory mental health mitigators because Annis told Davis that the reported 67 I. Q. "was excessively low, that he felt like he was -- had a higher I. Q., at least a street level I. Q., that he functioned at a lot higher level than that and that he didn't feel that he was under the influence of anybody else." (R4-68)

Mr. Davis testified that he knew Mr. Jones relevant family history to be

Child Abuse. I think either his family had separated early or his mother died earlier and then his father died in a fire. He ended up with his grandmother at a fairly early age. He started having a juvenile history at a very early age and was incarcerated at a very early age for the first.

(R4-50)

The source of this information was primarily Mr. Jones along with the records from the Maryland Department of Corrections. (R4-50)

When asked what his theme for the penalty was, Mr. Davis responded that Mr. Jones "had a desperate, wasted life full of tragedy; had not been dealt a good hand by

life; . . . And that he had a life of no traditional values, had never been presented with any traditional choices and that the road to this murder was not one that he undertook on his own volition. It's just like something that drifts in a stream. That's just where he ended up." (R4-53)

Davis believed the only way he could explain the murder "was to show that [Jones] had a totally wasted life that had no positive impact whatsoever and why kill a person for killing somebody else when in his culture and his entire mind-set it really wasn't a big deal to him; not that he was not remorseful, but that killing an officer did not hold the level of negativity with a person of his background than it would from a normal middle class background." (R4-69)

As part of the post-conviction process, Mr. Jones defense hired a licensed clinical social worker to prepare the case for mitigation. Cecilia Alfonso had testified in approximately ten penalty phase trial in capital cases. (R4-79) To do this work, she reviewed information from several sources and went to Baltimore to interview Audrey Sullivan and Rachel (sister), Carolyn Felton, and the mother of his son, Jessie and Mr. Jones' son, Antawan. (R4-83)

From this work, Mr. Alfonso learned that three months after he was born, his mother, Audrey Jones was incarcerated for neglect. She stayed in jail for 6-8 months. (R4-133) This separation had a profound effect on the mother-child bonding process.

(R4-87) Mr. Jones mother was also a major alcoholic, interfering with her ability to be a parent.\* (R4-89) So the role of parent was attempted to be played by Mr. Jones' father, Wesley Jones. He was a lot older that his wife, by almost 30 years. (R4-88) He had eight children to raise alone, while working to try and support the family. (R4-89)

In addition to her alcoholism, Mr. Jones mother had a long term affair with another man from the neighborhood. This relationship resulted in both physical and emotional fighting between Mr. Jones parents, that was often acted out in front of the children. (R4-90) One illustration was the time the father shot at the other man during a party Mrs. Jones was throwing her husband. The children were frightened and horrified by this conduct. (R4-91) When Clarence was no older than five, his mother left to go live with the man she was having an extra marital affair, Floyd Richardson. (R4-96)

Another example of the pervasive family violence and neglect was the mother's routine of leaving the children every Friday for the weekend, returning Sunday night or Monday. This behavior would result in violence between the mother and father

<sup>\*</sup>His mother would frequently serve beer to Clarence when he was little because she believed the beer would fatten him up. (R4-126) Clarence started drinking beer at age three or four. (R4-127)

upon her return, (R4-91) witnessed by the children. This included one time when the father beat his wife with brass knuckles. (R4-118) The wife took his gun and ran outside the house. Wesley Jones got the gun away from her and shot her. (R4-118) He got arrested; the wife was taken to the hospital. (R4-92) These were incidents witnessed by Clarence Jones (R4-93) and consistent with a family environment "filled with violence, abuse, irresponsibility and substance abuse." (R4-93)

The family violence followed Clarence Jones after his father died and his mother moved in with her long time lover. (R4-94) During this time, his older sister Audrey got into an argument with their brother Theodore and stabbed him to death. (R4-94) The social worker believed that Audrey's response to having the argument was indicative of the lessons this family had learned. (R4-95) These children had seen violence regularly and incorporated that technique to resolve conflicts. (R4-95)

When Clarence Jones was 11 years old, his father died in a fire at his house. (R4-98) The fire was deliberately set by a homeless woman who had been allowed to stay in the house for awhile but then been asked to leave. In retaliation, the woman poured gasoline in the house and started the fire. (R4-98) The father died when, while he was standing on the porch trying to determine whether someone was in the house, the porch collapsed. His skull was fractured and he subsequently died. (R4-97)

Clarence Jones was greatly affected by his dad's death. He ultimately became

more quiet, more withdrawn from the world. (R4-98) The loss was very traumatic, especially given Clarence's age and that it was his father, the only person who had provided stability in Clarence's life. (R4-98) The rest of Clarence's family was not able to replace his father. (R4-99) His mother provided no guidance because of her problems and the other children were not physically present or incapable of being a parent. (R4-99) The brother Clarence was closest to - Michael was shot to death in a craps game. (R4-100)

Clarence responded to Michael's death by using drugs and misbehaving. (R4-100, 142-143) This was to be expected. As Ms. Alphonso testified, Mr. Jones was "affect as [an adult] by environment and the dynamics and the values and in which [he was] raised." (R4-101) Ms. Alphonso described Clarence's family as one "where there was so much instability that there was no way to insulate that family from the outside forces in society meaning the crime, violence, the drugs, the substance abuse." (R4-103) While other people lived in families with similar troubles, Clarence had no one (after his father died) to advocate for him. There was no community support system. (R4-104) Any attempt by an outside force to intervene, failed. There was a police officer, Viola White, who tried without success to get Clarence's mother to pay attention to her children. (R4-105)

The childhood endured by Clarence Jones had consequences far beyond those

years. Ms. Alphonso reported that "Mr. Jones was and continues to be, if not physically, but intra physically affected by his childhood and the environment and the traumas that he was subjected to." (R4-96) Members of the Jones' family talked about how Clarence would suffer from significant mood changes in response to stress; how he would make bad decisions when confronted with everyday life decisions. (R5-188)

The effects of being raised this way as a child are lifelong "unless there is some significant and pronounced intervention." (R5-188)

Without that, we can predict that if you expose an individual to early onset trauma, dysfunction, a lack of predictability, stability, safety and the like, that you will produce an individual who will engage in maladaptive behavior and who himself or herself will be dysfunctional later on in life. The early experiences are critical in terms of their influence on later development. (R5-189) The earlier the child suffers from these deprivations, the more severe the effects. (R5-189)

The defense also called Audrey Sullivan, Clarence Jones' sister. (R4-113) She was one of eight children - Charles, Rachel, Herbert, Michael, Theodore, Jessie and Clarence. (R4-114) Clarence Jones was the youngest child. (R4-115) Their parents got along some of the time but often did not. The conflict between the two was a consequence of the mother's involvement with another man. (R4-115) Mrs. Jones and the other man would stay together away from the Jones' household all weekend.

(R4-116) Her father, Wesley Jones, did not believe his wife's story that she was at her girlfriend's house playing cards. (R4-116) This led them to fight, including physical altercations. Clarence was present when these fights happened and he certainly knew his parents were fighting (R4-117)

Ms. Sullivan was the sister of Clarence who killed their brother Theodore after she and Theodore got into a fight. Theodore had scratched and bit her face; she responded by stabbing him and ultimately Theodore bled to death. (R4-123) Two other brothers also died, one violently. From a total of five brothers, three died early on. (R4-125) The other brother, Herbert, was regularly in trouble with the law and constantly being locked up in jail. (R4-138)

Clarence Jones had two children by Carolyn Felton. One is deceased. The other Antawan, was born on August 16, 1979. (R4-145) Their son had been labeled "as disabled, mentally disturbed." Although he was in the tenth grade, he was reading only at a fourth grade level. Ms. Felton testified that Antawan had mental and emotional problems. (R4-148) These problems have existed since the child was born but she did not have any explanation for their cause. She was told that Antawan's problems could have been genetic. (R4-148) Her last contact with Clarence was when their daughter died in February of 1983. (R4-150) Ms. Felton would have been glad to testify on Mr. Jones behalf at his trial. (R4-149-150)

The defense hired Jethro Toomer, a psychologist whose area of specialization is criminal and forensic psychology. (R5-159) He was deemed to be an expert in the field of clinical and forensic psychology. (R5-162) Dr. Toomer explained the process necessary to conduct an evaluation to determine if evidence regarding mitigation of a capital defendant is available. Essentially, there are three necessary components: (1) meeting the defendant and conducting a clinical interview; (2) giving psychological tests and reviewing documents to determine a defendant's functioning development; and (3) talking with people to learn as much about the person's history as possible. (R5-163) Each one of these elements is necessary for it is important to corroborate the information received from a variety of sources. (R5-164)

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