IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE

JUL 7 19981

CLARENCE JONES,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 90,976

CLERK, SUPPLEME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR LEON COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-4583

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

not have done as defense counsel did at trial, no relief can be granted on ineffectiveness grounds unless it is shown that no reasonable lawyer, in the circumstances, would have done so. This burden, which is petitioner's to bear, is and is supposed to be a heavy one.") (emphasis supplied). Trial counsel is presumptively competent, and second-guessing counsel's performance through the filter of hindsight should be avoided. Strickland v. Washington, supra, White v. State, 664 So.2d 242 (Fla. 1995); Phillips v. State, 608 So.2d 778 (Fla. 1992).

Jones' trial counsel was an experienced criminal-law attorney with significant capital-murder trial experience. See <u>Gates v. Zant</u>, 863 F.2d 1492, 1498 (11th Cri. 1989) (the more experienced the attorney, the more deference is owed to his judgment about how much investigation is sufficient and what defenses to pursue). It is the State's contention that Jones has done no more than to second-guess his trial counsel's decisions through the filter of hindsight, after having "the luxury of time and the opportunity to focus resources on specific parts of a made record." <u>Waters v. Thomas</u>, 46 F.3d 1506 (11th Cir. 1995). Jones has failed to meet the "highly demanding" burden of proving deficient attorney performance or prejudice.

Jones' primary assertion as to deficient attorney performance is that his trial counsel failed adequately to investigate and present available mitigation, including testimony from family

members and mental health testimony about Jones' alleged brain damage. 5

Trial counsel testified at the postconviction hearing that he had contacted those family members whose names he had been given by Jones and had learned that these family members had little contact with Jones in recent years, knew little about his activities since he was incarcerated at a young age, and were unable or unwilling to come to Florida to testify at Jones' trial. Trial counsel testified that, except for some curiosity about the outcome, Jones' family had no interest in the trial or in Jones.

Jones argues that there is nothing in the record to corroborate this testimony. However, he does not contend that Jones' family were unaware of the trial; in fact, the testimony presented below demonstrates that Jones had written to a sister and told her about the trial. However, notwithstanding his family's knowledge about a Florida trial in which his life was at stake, not a single member of his family attended Jones' trial. Their absence corroborates trial counsel's testimony about their lack of

Jones also contends that trial counsel should have made a bigger issue of the fact that Jones is HIV positive. Other than quoting Dr. Folk's testimony about the progress of the AIDS disease, however, Jones does not address this aspect of trial counsel's performance, or offer any basis for rejecting Judge Padavano's finding that presenting testimony regarding the nature of AIDS could have been more harmful than helpful. Therefore, the State will simply rely on Judge Padavano's findings and will not further address this aspect of alleged attorney ineffectiveness.

interest. In any event, trial counsel's testimony alone was sufficient to establish the facts to which he testified, and Judge Padavano credited counsel's testimony that he had contacted Jones' relatives, but that they were not willing to come to Florida to attend the trial (2R 227-28). This factual determination is supported by competent evidence and must be accepted on appeal.

Jones v. State, 709 So.2d 512, 514-15 (Fla. 1998).

In any event, Jones cannot demonstrate prejudice from the absence of additional testimony about his childhood. This was a highly aggravated crime, committed by a 28-year-old escaped prisoner who had spent a good portion of his life incarcerated. Given his age and criminal background, his allegedly "deprived and abusive childhood is entitled to little, if any, mitigating weight." Francis v. Dugger, 908 F.2d 696, 703 (11th Cir. 1990) (defendant 31 at time of crime); Bolender v. Singletary, 16 F.3d 1547, 1561 (11th Cir. 1994) (defendant 27 at time of crime). Moreover, Dr. Annis was well aware of, and presented to the jury, testimony about Jones' family history. Through Dr. Annis, the jury learned about Jones' poor childhood, his emotional abuse at the hands of his mother's boyfriend, the death of his father, his mother, his brothers and his daughter, his attempt to escape by using drugs, his low intelligence, and his emotional problems. The family history presented at trial through Dr. Annis is wholly

consistent with that presented at the postconviction.⁶ Thus, as Judge Padavano found, the additional evidence would have added little of significance to the mitigation picture; "the arguments Davis actually made in mitigation with the evidence available to the jury are generally the same as those the defendant would have made with the testimony of the additional witnesses" (2R 227-28).⁷

As for the mental health evidence, trial counsel obtained a mental health evaluation by an indisputably qualified mental health expert and presented that expert's testimony at the penalty phase. Although Jones contends that his trial counsel gave this expert insufficient information to do an adequate evaluation, this argument is refuted by the testimony of his own expert, Dr. Barry Crown, who testified at the postconviction hearing that Dr. Annis

⁶ The State would note that only two family members attended even the postconviction hearing: his sister Audrey Sullivan, and Carolyn Felton, the mother of Jones' child. Both of these witnesses admitted that neither Jones nor his family knew where they were or how to get in touch with them at the time of the trial. Thus, Jones' own evidence shows that these two witnesses were not available to testify at the time of the trial.

⁷ In some respects, trial counsel's argument might have been diminished by some of the testimony presented at the postconviction hearing. Audrey Sullivan testified that she and her brother had grown up in a good neighborhood with no drugs, and that she did not know how Jones had responded to his brother Michael's death because he had been locked up at the time (4R 126-27). Thus, her testimony would not only have undercut any claim that Jones had grown up in a bad neighborhood, as well as any claim that he had been upset by Michael's death, but would also have emphasized Jones' criminal history. It is also doubtful that the jury would have been favorably impressed by Carolyn Felton's testimony that Jones had been in jail before, after and between the births of his two children (4R 145).

had done a "good clinical evaluation" (5R 225-26). Except for Dr. Crown's opinion of brain damage, the mental health testimony presented at the postconviction hearing was consistent with that presented by Dr. Annis. Clearly, Dr. Annis had enough background information to perform an adequate mental health evaluation. That Dr. Toomer would have testified that two statutory mitigators existed, while Dr. Annis would not fails to demonstrate deficient attorney performance. A defendant is not entitled to a battery of experts, and is not entitled to shop around until he finds an expert who will give him the most favorable result. Martin v. Wainwright, 770 F.2d 918, 934-35 (11th Cir. 1985) (defendant not entitled to expert who will testify favorably, or to battery of experts). Thus, merely producing favorable testimony by Dr. Toomer

⁸ Dr. Toomer testified that his testing of Jones indicated depression, deficits in self-concept, a history of substance abuse and poor social adjustment (5R 179). His testimony is consistent with Dr. Annis' testimony that Jones felt helpless and hopeless, has low self-esteem, has abused drugs and has been arrested numerous times for thefts as a result of his drug habit (21DR 3442-44). In addition, the IQ and achievement test scores obtained by Dr. Toomer were fully consistent with those obtained by Dr. Annis.

⁹ Jones implies in his brief that we do not know whether or Dr. Annis believed that any statutory mitigators existed, because "Mr. Davis failed to even ask Dr. Annis whether these or other statutory mitigating circumstances existed." Initial brief of appellant at 30. However, Davis testified that he did not ask Dr. Annis specific questions about statutory mitigators because the answers would not have been favorable (4R 68-69). Judge Padavano, noting this testimony, concluded that "[t]rial counsel cannot be faulted for refraining from asking a question when he knew the answer would be harmful to his client" (2R 227).

many years after trial is not sufficient to prove that trial counsel performed deficiently. Elledge v. Dugger, 823 F.2d 1439, 1446 (11th Cir. 1987) ("Merely proving that someone--years later--located an expert who will testify favorably is irrelevant unless the petitioner, the eventual expert, counsel or some other person can establish a reasonable likelihood that a similar expert could have been found at the pertinent time by an ordinarily competent attorney using reasonably diligent effort.").

In this case, not only has Jones failed to demonstrate any basis for trial counsel to have sought additional psychological evaluation, it is apparent that Dr. Toomer's opinion today is based to at least some extent on information that simply did not exist at the time of trial, and therefore could not have been presented at the original trial no matter how "effective" trial counsel might have been. 10

The only significant "new" mental health evidence presented by Jones at the postconviction is Dr. Crown's testimony that Jones has brain damage. However, Jones can demonstrate no deficient attorney

¹⁰ As noted in the Statement of Facts, Dr. Toomer reviewed Florida DOC material that obviously was not available to Dr. Annis at the time of the original trial, and also spoke with Audrey Sullivan and Carolyn Felton--family members who Judge Padavano found as a fact were not available at the time of the original trial. In addition, Dr. Toomer's conclusions concerning the existence of statutory mitigation was based on Dr. Crown's testimony about brain damage (5R 193-94). Thus, Jones' own evidence indicates that Dr. Toomer's conclusions (to the extent that they could be said to differ significantly from Dr. Annis') could not have been available to Jones at his trial.

performance in this regard. Trial counsel did not himself see any indication that Jones might be brain damaged, and neither did the mental health expert trial counsel retained to evaluate Jones. Moreover, there is no suggestion in this record that either trial counsel or Dr. Annis ignored "clear indications" of brain damage. On the contrary, Jones' own expert acknowledged that Jones displayed no indications of brain damage: Dr. Crown testified that Jones' brain damage is not detectable by the most competent clinical psychological evaluation or by any "technology" we now have, including MRI, CT scan, or EEG examination. Trial counsel could not have been ineffective for not pursuing a mental mitigator undetectable by him or by a competent psychologist or psychiatrist. See Rose v. State, 617 So.2d 291, 295 (Fla. 1993) (defendant is not entitled to postconviction relief simply because new expert concludes that defendant had brain damage when there was no indication that original expert ignored "clear indications" of mental health problems); Mills v. State, 603 So.2d 482, 483-86 (Fla. 1992) (trial counsel was not ineffective for failing to seek mental health examination when counsel had no reason to suspect that mental health mitigation could have been developed); Correll v. Dugger, 588 So.2d 422, 426 (Fla. 1990) (despite presentation of new psychiatric opinions at the postconviction hearing seriously questioning defendant's mental capacity, defendant not entitled to new penalty hearing where mental-health expert used at trial had been alerted to defendant's drug and alcohol use and found no indication of mental impairment).

Jones merely has produced a favorable mental health witness years after trial; he has not demonstrated either that Dr. Crown was available in 1989, or, more importantly, that every reasonable attorney in 1989 would have retained Dr. Crown or some other neuropsychologist to evaluate Jones for brain damage despite the lack of indication of such either to the trial attorney or to the qualified mental health expert retained by that attorney. The test is not "how present counsel would have proceeded" to represent the defendant, but whether any reasonable attorney could have proceeded as did trial counsel. Cherry v. State, supra, 659 So.2d at 1073. At most, Jones has shown only that his present counsel would have obtained a neuropsychological evaluation, "a showing that misses the target by a wide mark." Spaziano v. Singletary, 36 F.3d 1028, 1041 (11th Cir. 1994).

Furthermore, Jones cannot demonstrate prejudice. It is highly unlikely that either the jury or the trial judge would have found particularly credible Dr. Crown's testimony that the defendant has "metabolic" brain damage (whatever that is), which cannot be detected by the most sophisticated technology available (including MRI's, CT scans, and EEG's), or by analysis of brain tissue in an autopsy (except perhaps, someday, by use of an electron microscope), or by observation by the most competent psychiatrist

or clinical psychologist (let alone by a lay person). Not only is such testimony likely to be perceived as arrogant by the sentencer, the very invisibility of this alleged brain damage, and the lack of any observable manifestations of it, only diminish its mitigating value. 11

As Judge Padavano noted, this case involved a highly aggravated murder of a police officer, committed to avoid arrest by an escaped prisoner with a lengthy record of committing crimes of violence (2R 229-30). The jury voted 11-1 for a death sentence. Judge Padavano did not err in finding that the additional mitigating evidence presented at the postconviction would not in reasonable likelihood have resulted in a different sentence.

Jones has failed to demonstrate either deficient attorney performance or prejudice. Therefore, he has failed to show that he received ineffective assistance of counsel at sentencing. Judge Padavano correctly denied relief on this issue.

Nevertheless, he claims to be more competent to diagnose brain damage than psychiatrists, who <u>are</u> medical doctors. This is so, Dr. Crown claims, because he is focused on the "brain," while psychiatrists are focused on the "mind." This, notwithstanding that Dr. Crown may not lawfully prescribe even an aspirin for a headache, much less any psychotropic drugs. The State doubts that Dr. Crown has better training in, or understanding of, the anatomical, electrical or "metabolic" structure of the brain than a medical doctor who has specialized in the study of the "mind."

ISSUE II

JONES <u>BRADY</u> CLAIM IS PROCEDURALLY BARRED; MOREOVER, JONES HAS FAILED TO ESTABLISH THAT THE STATE WITHHELD MATERIAL EXCULPATORY EVIDENCE

Here, Jones contends that the State withheld a three-page pretrial memorandum written by detective Bevis of the Leon County Sheriff's Department. This memorandum, Jones argues, was material on the issue of sentence, and should have been disclosed at trial, pursuant to Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963).

Judge Padavano found that Jones had sought leave to amend on October 7, 1993, but failed to raise any <u>Brady</u> claim until October 25, 1996, more than two years later (2R 330). Noting that Jones had not included any sworn allegation in his 3.850 motion explaining why the claim had not been raised in a timely manner, as required by Rule 3.850 (b), Judge Padavano found that the <u>Brady</u> claim was untimely, and would be denied on the basis of this procedural default (2R 230-31).

A defendant seeking postconviction relief after a death sentence must present his <u>Brady</u> claim in a timely manner. <u>Jones v.</u> <u>State, supra, 709 So.2d at 519; Mills v. State, 684 So.2d 801, 805 n. 7 (Fla. 1996). Jones has failed even to argue, much less demonstrate, that Judge Padavano's finding of procedural bar was</u>

Judge Padavano noted that, at the postconviction hearing, Jones introduced only the first page of the memorandum. The State introduced the remainder (2R 232).

erroneous, and therefore Judge Padavano must be affirmed on this basis alone.

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